IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAY JACKSON,) Appellant,) vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Appellee.)

CASE NUMBER SC07-1233

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0267082 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 3, 2005, the grand jury in and for Volusia County returned an indictment charging appellant with one count of first degree murder in violation of Sections 782.04(1)(a)1 and/or 2, Florida Statutes (2004) and one count of kidnaping in violation of Sections 787.01(1)(a) and (2), Florida Statutes (2004). (Vol. I, 5-6) On June 28, 2005, the state filed its notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (Vol. I, 42) On October 19, 2006, appellant filed a motion in limine seeking to prevent any reference to appellant possessing a gun on other occasions. (Vol. I, 159-161) Following a hearing on February 16, 2007, the trial court granted the motion limiting any testimony concerning appellant's possession of a gun to the date in question. (Vol. V, 811-812; Vol. III, 501) On April 2, 2007, the state

filed a motion to consolidate appellant's case with that of the codefendant, Michael Wooten. (Vol. III, 543-544) Just prior to commencement of jury selection, the trial court granted the motion to consolidate over the objection of defense counsel. (Vol. VI, 847-852; Vol. III, 555)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on April 9, 2007 with the Honorable R. Michael Hutcheson, circuit court judge, presiding. (Vol. VI-XV, 843-2386; Vol. XVI-XXV, 1-1489) Prior to commencement of the trial, Judge Hutcheson granted the state's motion in limine to permit evidence of drugs, drug usage, and drug sales to show positions of trust. (Vol. XVI 29-32) The defense objected to this on the grounds that these were collateral crimes for which no notice was given, the evidence of drug sales was irrelevant and the prejudice far outweighed any probative value it may have. (Vol. XVI, 30) Over defense objection, the trial court allowed the evidence and ruled that it was not similar fact evidence. (Vol. XVI, 32) Judge Hutcheson further granted the state's motion in limine to include any mention of the fact that the victim may have had AIDS. (Vol. XVI, 36-42) The court excluded the AIDS issue but allowed testimony concerning the lifestyle of the victim. (Vol. XVI, 41) During the testimony of state witness Latisha Allen, the defense sought to question her concerning an incident shortly before her deposition where another state witness, Calvin Morris, came to see her and had a taser. (Vol.

XXI, 665-671) The trial court disallowed this testimony because Allen testified that she did not feel intimidated and was not sure if this was connected to the instant case. (Vol. XXI, 665-671) During the testimony of state witness Frederick Hunt, defense counsel moved for a mistrial when Hunt blurted out, in violation of a pretrial motion in limine ruling, that appellant "always carries a little pistol with him right here in his little waistband." (Vol. XXI, 791) The trial court ruled that the witness clearly violated the pretrial order but denied the motion for mistrial since the comment did not rise to the level of the mistrial. The trial court further noted that he was not sure if that statement would ever become relevant. (Vol. XXI, 795) The trial court offered to give a cautionary instruction but the defense believed that no cautionary instruction could remove the prejudicial taint and declined. (Vol. XXI, 791) A little later during Hunt's testimony, after he denied that he told a fellow inmate that he had lied on appellant, the prosecutor asked "Is this the Quintin Wallace, Mr. Hunt, that was convicted in this courthouse for killing a baby?" (Vol. XXII, 981) Defense counsel immediately objected and moved for a mistrial arguing that it was improper impeachment and that this inflamed the jury. (Vol. XXII, 981) The state responded that it was a proper question because it goes to his bias and it will come out in evidence anyway. (Vol. XXII, 982) The trial court denied the motion for mistrial but agreed that it was

improper to ask Hunt that question although he believed it would come out in evidence anyway. (Vol. XXII, 984) The trial court did instruct the jury to disregard that statement. (Vol. XXII, 987) Subsequently, during the testimony of Quintin Wallace, the state was permitted to elicit the nature of the offense for which Wallace was convicted. (Vol. XXIII, 1082-1085) After the state was permitted to elicit testimony that codefendant Wooten threatened Calvin Morris during jury selection, appellant moved to sever his case arguing that the prejudice would pour over to appellant and that somehow the jury will assume that appellant knew of and agreed to the threat. (Vol. XXIII, 1237-1240) The trial court denied the motion to sever but noted that the issue was preserved for appellate review. (Vol. XXIII, 1240) At the close of the state's case and again at the close of all the evidence, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal arguing that there was no evidence that the death of the victim was caused by the criminal act of another since the medical examiner could not give a cause of death. (Vol. XXIII, 1030, 1037) The trial court denied the motion . (Vol. XXIII, 1038) Defense counsel requested a special jury instruction on circumstantial evidence which the trial court declined to give. (Vol. XXIII, 1132-1136, 1179-1183) During the state's rebuttal argument, defense counsel objected when the prosecutor again highlighted the nature of Quintin Wallace's convictions. (Vol. XXV, 1393) This objection was

overruled. (Vol. XXV, 1393) Following deliberations, the jury returned a verdict finding appellant guilty of first degree premeditated murder and first degree felony murder and guilty of kidnaping. (Vol. XXV, 1469)

Appellant proceeded to a penalty phase on May 7, 2007. (Vols. XXVI-XXX, 1-651) During the charge conference in the penalty phase, appellant requested numerous jury instructions which were denied including the standard instruction on reasonable doubt and the standard instruction on the defendant not testifying. (Vol. XXIX, 516-542) The trial court denied these requested instructions saying that he would not repeat them "they [the jury] should remember this." (Vol. XXIX, 524, 536) Following deliberations, the jury returned an advisory recommendation that appellant be sentenced to death. (XXX 650)

The trial court conducted a *Spencer* hearing on June 15, 2007. (Vol. XV, 2387-2420) Appellant appeared for sentencing on June 21, 2007. (Vol. XV, 2421-2450) Judge Hutcheson adjudicated appellant guilty and sentenced appellant to death for the first degree murder conviction finding three aggravators and no statutory mitigating factors and a consecutive sentence of life as a prison releasee reoffender for the kidnaping conviction. (Vol. XV, 2421-2450; Vol. IV, 704-713) Judge Hutcheson filed his written findings of fact in support of the death penalty. (Vol. IV, 696-703)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on June 28, 2007. (Vol. IV, 719) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (Vol. IV, 734, 736)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Pallis Paulk was a young woman who lived a very free and risky lifestyle. Although she was the mother of a young daughter, her uncle had court ordered custody of the child because of Pallis' lifestyle. (Vol. XVII 129, 135) Pallis used drugs including marijuana, cocaine and ecstacy on a regular basis. (Vol. XVII 173-174, 154, 137) Although Pallis was not a "street walking" prostitute, she did have sex with men and women for money and also procured women to have sex with men for money. (Vol. XVII 177, 174-175; XX 486) Pallis' mother died of AIDS and the rumor on the streets was that Pallis suffered from AIDS although that may not have been true. (Vol. XVII 151, 154, 174) Sometime late in October, 2004, Pallis went by her uncle's house with Christmas presents for her daughter. (Vol. XVII 131) Pallis's uncle figured it would be sometime until he heard from Pallis again because she was going to turn herself into the police on some outstanding warrants. (Vol. XVII 131) Larry Paulk, Pallis's uncle, testified that he previously told the police that he last saw Pallis in November, around Thanksgiving, but it was actually in October. (Vol. XVII 136) Fayonna Paulk, Pallis's first cousin, lived with Pallis until November 1, 2004. (Vol. XVII 141-142) Although they stopped living together, Fayonna saw Pallis nearly every day. (Vol. XVII 142) On a Sunday in early November, 2004, Fayonna saw Pallis at

Club Vibes in Deland, Florida. (Vol. XVII 142) After that date, Fayonna never heard from Pallis again. (Vol. XVII 136) After several weeks, Fayonna filed a missing persons report on November 26, 2004. (Vol. XVII 147, 132) Another cousin Jessica Smith, also had contact with Pallis on a daily basis. (Vol. XVII 165-166) On a Monday evening in early November 2004 she saw Pallis for the last time at the Southside Inn and Pallis seemed fine. (Vol. XVII 166-167) On that night, Pallis told Jessica she had a date although Jessica did not see the person and did not know who this was. (Vol. XVII 175) Susanne Raines, a Daytona Beach police officer was assigned to investigate a missing person claim of Pallis Paulk. (Vol. XVII 158-159) In connection with the investigation, Raines attempted to contact Calvin Morris, Jimbo Vreen and a black male named Ray. (Vol. XVII 160-161) During her investigation, Raines realized that Pallis had outstanding warrants for violation of probation. (Vol. XVII 162) Raines testified that it was fairly common for people with warrants to stay missing to avoid incarceration. (Vol. XVII 163)

In the late morning of April 17, 2005, Michael Jansen, his two sons and their dog were walking through the woods at the end of Dunn St. and Williamson Blvd. (Vol. XVII 182) Jansen came upon what appeared to several bones and upon closer examination Jansen thought they found a human leg bone. (Vol. XVII 183)

Jansen's dog then found a shallow grave with more bones. (Vol. XVI 184) Jansen drove home, looked up on the internet human bones and decided that the bones were indeed human and called the police and then went back to the area and showed the police where he found them. (Vol. XVII 184) Officer Steven Copsidas, was dispatched to the wooded area behind the Carolina Club Apartments where he waited to meet with Michael Jansen. (Vol. XVII 186) Jansen lead the officers to a shallow grave with bones in it. (Vol. XVII 187) Copsidas secured the area and waited for the medical examiner to come. (Vol. XVII 187)

Thomas Beaver, a forensic pathologist, was the chief medical examiner for Volusia County in April, 2005. (Vol. XVIII 231, 234) On April 17, 2005, Beaver was called to an area in the woods near the intersection of Dunn and Williamson. (Vol. XVIII 235) Numerous bones were found around the area. (Vol. XVIII 238-241) The bones were collected and returned to the medical examiner's office where they were x-rayed. (Vol. XVIII 243) Beaver was unable to conduct a normal autopsy since all of the soft tissue was gone and the internal organs were nonidentifiable. (Vol. XVIII 243-244) The state of the bones were consistent with having been in a grave for six months. (Vol. XVIII 244) Beaver sent the body to an anthropologist for an examination. (Vol. XVIII 244) No clothing were found in the area but some hair extensions were found. (Vol. XVIII 245-246) Beaver did

not observe any obvious signs of injury which was very rare. (Vol. XVIII 247) The remains were examined at the anthropology lab at the University of Florida where they were able to establish the sex and the approximate age of the body but no cause of death. (Vol. XVIII 248) The remains were ultimately identified through forensic dental examinations. (Vol. XVIII 249) Dr. Beaver observed no gunshots wounds, stab wounds, or blunt force injuries. (Vol. XVIII 252) Dr. Beaver was also unable to give any time of death. (Vol. XVIII 253) Dr. Beaver determined that this was a homicide because of the report that the victim had "gone missing" and that she was placed in a shallow grave and this was not the way death comes normally to people. (Vol. XVIII 250) The official cause of death was homicidal violence of undetermined etiology, with no definitive injuries. (Vol. XVIII 250) Dr. Beaver admitted that his opinion that this was homicide was based more on human nature than on any scientific conclusions. (Vol. XVIII 259) A toxicology report was prepared which showed positive results for the presence of alcohol, cocaine and ecstasy. (Vol. XVIII 266-267)

In 2004, a fifteen year old Calvin Morris would hang around with Pallis Paulk, his cousin with whom he grew up. (Vol. XVIII 302-303) Morris saw Pallis every day and rode around, smoked dope, and went to clubs with her. (Vol. XVIII 303) Although Morris knew appellant, he did not hang with him but would see him

at Tisha's house. (Vol. XVIII 306) Morris did not know Michael Wooten. (Vol. XVIII 306) In early November, Morris was driving around with a friend Marvin Fluker when he got a call from Pallis who told him "I got a lick for you, Cuz." (Vol. XVIII 310) Morris testified that this meant that Pallis had someone from whom they could steal. (Vol. XVIII 310) Morris and Fluker drove to an apartment at 304 Keech St. in Daytona Beach where Pallis was located. (Vol. XVIII 308) Fluker stayed in the car while Morris went up and knocked on the door and Pallis answered. (Vol. XVIII 312) Morris stepped just inside the apartment and saw appellant asleep in the bed. (Vol. XVIII 313) Morris figured that they were stealing from appellant so he went to the car to wait for Pallis. (Vol. XVIII 315) When Pallis came to the car she had a Sponge Bob bag with her and also had some men's jewelry consisting of a bracelet and a necklace. (Vol. XVIII 315) Inside the bag was some cocaine, marijuana, and \$800.00. (Vol. XVIII 317) Pallis also had a cell phone that did not belong to her. (Vol. XVIII 318) Pallis got in the back seat and Morris dropped off Marvin after which he and Pallis drove to Sanford to pick up Morris' girlfriend. (Vol. XVIII 316, 318) While driving to Sanford and returning, Morris and Pallis smoked at least six joints. (Vol. XX 491; XVIII 318-319) On the return trip to Daytona, Pallis called Jimbo Vreen to try to obtain some X pills which are drugs which contain heroin. (Vol. XVIII 319) Pallis asked

Morris to take her to Jimbo's house but Morris told Pallis that she needed to go to her Aunt Margie's house and lie down. (Vol. XVIII 320-321) Morris was afraid that appellant would be out looking for Pallis because she had robbed him. (Vol. XVIII 322) Despite his concerns, Morris took Pallis to Jimbo's stopping at a store where Pallis bought clothing and shoes. (Vol. XVIII 322) Pallis also gave Morris \$100.00. (Vol. XVIII 323)

Curtis "Jimbo" Vreen lived on Loomis Avenue with his mother, sister, and daughter. (Vol. XX 538, 542) Jimbo knew Pallis since they were approximately eight years old from church and he saw her nearly every other day. (Vol. XX 539) Pallis did not work but rather Jimbo knew her to party all the time. (Vol. XX 539) Vreen remembers a day in early November when Pallis came over at 3:00 a.m. to get some ecstasy. (Vol. XX 542) Pallis came with someone in a red hatchback although Vreen did not see who the other person was. (Vol. XX 543-544) Vreen gave Pallis half of a pill and she left. (Vol. XX 544) Later that day Pallis called Vreen again asking for more pills but Vreen told her he had none. (Vol. XX 545-546) After this phone call, appellant came looking for Pallis whom appellant told Vreen had robbed him the night before. (Vol. XX 547-548) Appellant was calm and not irate and left when Vreen told him that Pallis was not there. (Vol. XX 548) After appellant left, Pallis showed up and a short while later appellant returned.

(Vol. XX 549) When Calvin Morris pulled up to Vreen's house, Pallis got out and told Morris she would be right back. (Vol. XVIII 324) Pallis went inside the house and two minutes later a light skinned black person came out and Morris asked him about Pallis whom the man said was in the bathroom. (Vol. XVIII 324) According to Morris, that person was Michael Wooten. (Vol. XVIII 325) According to Vreen appellant showed up and asked Pallis "Where's my shit?" to which Pallis replied "I gave it to my cousin." (Vol. XX 550) Pallis and appellant left and Vreen went out on the porch after them. (Vol. XX 551) According to Vreen, there were two cars there, a gray Intrigue driven by Calvin Morris and a red hatchback. (Vol. XX 551) According to Vreen, appellant and Pallis went to Calvin's car and got some of Pallis's belongings in shoe boxes and then Pallis got into the back seat of the hatchback. (Vol. XX 554-555) Appellant got in the front passenger seat and Michael Wooten got in the driver seat. (Vol. XX 555) Vreen never saw any force being used but rather stated that Pallis got in the car of her own volition. (Vol. XX) 554, 557) Calvin Morris disputed Vreen's testimony. According to Morris, when appellant and Pallis came out of the house, a two door hatchback pulled up in front of Calvin's car. (Vol. XVIII 327) According to Morris, this car was driven by a black male with dreads. (Vol. XVIII 339) Appellant came out of the house behind Pallis and appellant had a small gun tucked in the side of his pants. (Vol. XVIII

340) They came over to Morris's car and appellant asked Pallis where his stuff was. (Vol. XVIII 340) Pallis told appellant that she split the stuff with Morris and Morris told appellant that his marijuana was still there and gave it to him. (Vol. XVIII 341) Appellant told Pallis to come with him and although Pallis acted like she did not want to go she got in the backseat of the hatchback with appellant. (Vol. XVIII 342-343) As the hatchback pulled away Morris started to follow but according to Morris, appellant waved her gun outside of the window so Morris simply turned off and went to his grandmother's house. (Vol. XVIII 343-344) Neither Calvin Morris nor Curtis Vreen ever saw or heard from Pallis again. (Vol. XVIII 345; Vol. XX 556)

Sometime between Halloween and Thanksgiving, Sarah Key Calvin Morris's grandmother, recalls Calvin coming to her and telling her that Pallis had been taken by some men. (Vol. XX 529-530) Calvin recalls that he did not tell Sarah everything but did tell her that she should go and tell Aunt Margie to call the police. (Vol. XVIII 344) Despite his concern, Calvin did not call the police because he had warrants out for his own arrest. (Vol. XVIII 345) Sometime later, Calvin and his grandmother had stopped at a Texaco station and Calvin saw appellant and told his grandmother that he was one of the people that had taken Pallis. (Vol. XVIII 347; XX 532) Sarah Key asked appellant "do you know Pallis?" to which appellant replied "something like that." (Vol. XX 532) Sarah then told appellant that if he saw Pallis to tell her that her grandmother and her baby want her home but appellant just walked on to his car. (Vol. XX 532)

On March 1, 2005, at a juvenile detention facility, Calvin Morris gave a police statement. He also looked at a lineup and selected appellant's photo from it. (Vol. XVIII 348-350) Morris was returned to Volusia County in May and was shown a second photo lineup but was unable to pick anyone out of this lineup even though Michael Wooten's picture was in this second lineup. (Vol. XVIII 351, 364-365) While Morris was in jail, appellant threatened to kill him. (Vol. XVIII 365)

Although Curtis Vreen did not see or hear from Pallis after the day that she left his house with appellant, he did begin to worry when he had not heard from her for several weeks. (Vol. XX 558) Approximately one and a half to two months later, Vreen saw appellant at a liquor store and asked him where Pallis was to which appellant replied "I'm like you, I don't know where she is." (Vol. XX 561) Vreen remembered that Pallis had been beaten up once in Orlando because she robbed some people. (Vol. XX 578) On the day that Pallis was at Vreen's house, Vreen did not believe there was anything wrong with Pallis going with appellant. (Vol. XX 582) Had there been a problem, Pallis would have signaled Vreen. (Vol. XX 582) Vreen testified that people threatened him thinking that he killed Pallis. (Vol. XX 583) Vreen had no reason to think that appellant was going to harm Pallis. (Vol. XX 587)

Sergeant Byron Williams of the Daytona Beach Police Department was on duty on November 9, 2004 when he stopped Dewayne Thomas and arrested him for no valid driver's license. (Vol. XX 594-595) Another person was with Thomas and that person was Frederick "Buck" Hunt who was found in possession of marijuana. (Vol. XX 595-596) Hunt was not arrested but rather given a notice to appear. (Vol. XX 596) Williams called the owner of the car, Latisha Allen, to come and pick up the car. (Vol. XX 597)

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