IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAY JACKSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-1233 L.T. No. 2005-32590 CFAES

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

discretion in allowing the cross-examination to reveal the nature of the offense, such error was clearly harmless under the facts of this case.

With perhaps the exception of the question revealing the nature of Wallace's conviction, the remaining portion of the cross-examination of Wallace prosecutor's was entirely appropriate. The fact Wallace was recently prosecuted by the same State Attorney's Office, and, in fact, the very same prosecutor was certainly relevant. In Wallace's opinion, he was wrongly convicted, which was relevant to his potential bias in favor of the defendants or, his bias against the State. (V23, 1084). Further, the fact that he believes he was wrongly convicted on the basis of a "snitches" testimony was also Wallace admitted that he considered State witness relevant. Hunt a "snitch." (V23, 1083). Finally, Wallace was impeached on the basis of his friendship with Wooten. (V23, 1083).

While naming the specific convictions for which he was serving a twenty five year sentence may have been improper, the length of the sentence was admissible. Wallace's animosity and potential bias against the State is directly related to the length of the sentence he is presently serving on the basis of his allegedly unjust conviction. <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 288, 291 (Fla. 1995) ("Our evidence code liberally permits the

introduction of evidence to show the bias or motive of a witness.")(citing Fla. Stat. 90.608(2)(1993)).

Any possible impropriety in the prosecutor's questioning is clearly harmless beyond any reasonable doubt on the facts of this case. As noted above, Wallace's credibility was properly and extensively impeached on the basis of his bias against the State, his dislike of snitches [like Hunt], and his friendship with defendant Wooten. Moreover, despite acknowledging that snitches are not thought well of, or treated well in prison, supposedly, according to Wallace, Hunt, whom he only met and talked to one time, admitted he falsely implicated Wooten and Jackson in the instant case. Wallace's testimony was inherently incredible.

Another factor in favor of finding any error harmless is that Wallace was a limited witness in this case. Wallace's brief testimony was presented to impeach a single State witness, Hunt. Consequently, the allegedly impermissible revelation of Wallace's prior conviction was much less prejudicial to the overall defense case than in the case where the details of a <u>defendant's</u> criminal history is impermissibly revealed. <u>See</u> <u>generally United States v. Garber</u>, 471 F.2d 212, 214 (5th Cir. Tex. 1972) ("Instead of limiting its probative value solely to a determination of defendant's credibility as a witness, the jury

may use the prior criminal conduct to draw either or both of two legally impermissible inferences: (1) that the defendant should be convicted because he has committed a previous crime and, therefore, probably committed the crime presently charged; or (2) that any doubts should be resolved against defendant because the evidence of prior criminal behavior demonstrates that he is a 'bad man.'").

Finally, Hunt's testimony was largely corroborated by another State witness, Latisha Allen. Consequently, any impermissible impeachment of witness Wallace simply was not a significant blow to the defense case. Indeed, the State's evidence establishing that Jackson was responsible for the kidnapping and murdering the victim was almost completely uncontradicted at trial.

For all of the foregoing reasons, revelation of the specific nature of defense witness Wallace's convictions was clearly harmless error in this case. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AND ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S DRUG DEALING AND A WITNESS'S MOTIVE IN GOING TO THE POLICE? (Stated by Appellee)

Appellant next contends that the trial court erred in making three evidentiary rulings during the trial below. The State disagrees. Each ruling was well within the sound discretion of the trial court below.

A. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Denying A Motion For Mistrial When A Witness Revealed That Appellant Carried A Gun

Appellant first maintains that witness Hunt's testimony that appellant always carried a little gun in his pants was so prejudicial that it required a mistrial. The trial court sustained the defense objection to this comment and offered to provide a curative instruction. The defense declined. Under the circumstances of this case, this brief comment did not warrant the drastic remedy of a mistrial.

As appellant recognizes in his brief, a ruling on a motion for mistrial lies within the discretion of the trial court. <u>Ford v. State</u>, 802 So. 2d 1121, 1129 (Fla. 2001) ("A trial court's ruling on a motion for a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the court and will be sustained on review absent an abuse of discretion."); Snipes v. State, 733 So. 2d 1000,

1005 (Fla. 1999) ("A decision on a motion for a mistrial is within the discretion of the trial judge and such a motion should be granted only in the case of absolute necessity."). Under the abuse of discretion standard, the trial court's ruling will be upheld unless the "judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable . . . [D]iscretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." <u>Trease v. State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000) (second alteration in original) (quoting <u>Huff v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990)).

While the trial court granted a motion in limine prohibiting the State from eliciting evidence appellant carried or possessed a firearm except in reference to the time of the charged offenses, the State maintains that evidence from Hunt placing appellant in possession of a small caliber handgun was simply relevant evidence. Since there was no error below, appellant cannot maintain the trial court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial. <u>See Sanchez-Velasco v. Sec'y, Dep't of</u> <u>Corr.</u>, 287 F.3d 1015, 1026 (11th Cir. 2002) ("An appellee may, without cross-appealing, urge in support of a result that has been appealed by the other party any ground leading to the same result, even if that ground is inconsistent with the district court's reasoning.")(citations omitted). Appellant had a .22

or .25 caliber [or, a similar handgun], in his waistband or at his side when he kidnapped Pallis. (V18, 340). Moreover, appellant used a handgun to threaten Morris, when he was following appellant and Pallis in the car after she was taken from Vreen's home. (V20, 502). Consequently, evidence placing appellant in possession of a small caliber handgun either before or after the kidnapping constitutes relevant evidence. See Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d 244, 251 (Fla. 1995) (evidence of collateral crime properly admitted to show defendant's possession of the gun after the shootings and to establish the context of the criminal transaction); Remeta v. State, 522 So. 2d 825, 827 (Fla. 1988) (upholding admission of collateral crimes evidence because the same gun was used in both crimes and established defendant's possession of murder weapon). In any case, admission of this brief testimony clearly did not warrant the drastic remedy of a mistrial.

In denying the motion for mistrial, the trial court stated, in part: "...So just - - I think, my way of thinking right now, just an incidental comment of Mr. Jackson carrying a gun after the fact does not rise to the level of a mistrial." (V21, 796). The trial court offered to give a cautionary instruction to the jury, but, the defense declined, stating that any cautionary instruction would not remove the "prejudicial taint." (V21,

796). Courts in this State have repeatedly held that evidence placing a defendant in possession of a weapon, even if error, generally do not require a new trial. <u>See Marek v. State</u>, 492 So. 2d 1055, 1057 (Fla. 1986) (evidence that a gun unrelated to the murder was found in appellant's truck when he was arrested did not require a mistrial where the gun's discovery was "not prejudicial" to the appellant under the circumstances and finding that a curative instruction was sufficient to dissipate any potential prejudice); <u>Accord Bryant v. State</u>, 744 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999); <u>Villanueva v. State</u>, 917 So. 2d 968, 972-73 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005)¹⁰.

In conclusion, evidence that appellant carried a small caliber handgun on the day of the kidnapping was properly admitted into evidence. Moreover, given the strong and largely uncontradicted evidence in this case, the trial court was under no obligation to declare a mistrial.

B. <u>The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Admitting</u> <u>Evidence That Appellant Sold Drugs</u>

First, appellant failed to preserve this issue for review. Appellant failed to make any objection at trial when witness Morris testified that he knew appellant sold drugs. (V20, 523). Further, when witness Hunt testified about his relationship with

¹⁰ These cases should not be distinguished on grounds that curative instructions were provided because in this case the court offered a curative instruction and the defense declined.

Jackson, he described that they were close and that he sold his "coke, weed, [and] answer his telephones." (V21, 780). Again, there was no contemporaneous objection to this testimony. Moreover, on cross-examination of State witness Hunt, defense counsel elicited that among Hunt's duties for Jackson was to sell coke, weed, and other drugs. (V22, 904). The failure to make contemporaneous objections to this evidence clearly waives the issue on appellate review. See Hazen v. State, 700 So. 2d 1207, 1211 (Fla. 1997) (stating that the court "need not reach the merits of this claim" because it was "procedurally barred for lack of a contemporaneous objection.")(citing Lindsey v. State, 636 So. 2d 1327, 1328 (Fla. 1994); Correll v. State, 523 So. 2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988)); Teffeteller v. State, 495 So. 2d 744, 747 (Fla. 1986) (stating that "[a]ppellant cannot bootstrap this concern over" [revealing the defendant's prior death sentence] in voir dire "to alleviate the requirement of a contemporaneous objection.") (citing Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982)).

Appellant has not established error in this case, much less the type of error required to be considered fundamental. Fundamental error is error that "reach[es] down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of

the alleged error." <u>Archer v. State</u>, 934 So. 2d 1187, 1205 (Fla. 2006) (citing <u>Kilgore v. State</u>, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1997)); <u>D'Oleo-Valdez v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 1347, 1348 (Fla. 1988) ("for error to be so fundamental that it may be urged on appeal, though not properly presented below, the error must amount to a denial of due process.") (citing <u>Ray v. State</u>, 403 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981)).

Even if this issue had been preserved for review, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence that Jackson sold drugs. The State sought a ruling during voir dire from the trial court authorizing the later admission of Jackson's drug dealing. (V16, 29-30). The State brought it up to avoid having to "walk on eggshells" during the trial. (V16, 29). The State argued such evidence was relevant to what was taken from Jackson, drugs and \$800, because you "you can't really discuss the murder without the drug element involved." (V16, 29). Also, witness Hunt had a relationship of trust with the appellant, and in order to explain their relationship this evidence must be brought out. (V16, 31). The trial court agreed that this evidence was relevant, stating:

I don't think it's really similar fact evidence, not being proffered for similar fact, but it's tied in to possibly motivation and witnesses' knowledge of Mr. Jackson and their dealings, so that is objective.

(V16, 32).

Appellant's drug dealing was relevant to explain the set up, and, context for the kidnapping and murder of Pallis Paulk. Appellant's drug dealing was inextricably intertwined with the relationship between the witnesses and the motive for the kidnapping and murder. Indeed, Pallis stole drugs and some \$800 (V18, 317). This evidence was from Jackson. clearly admissible. See Jorgenson v. State, 714 So. 2d 423, 428 (Fla. (in first-degree murder prosecution, evidence 1998) of defendant's drug dealing was relevant to support State's theory of motive, where evidence suggested that defendant regularly used victim as delivery person, that victim had stolen from defendant, that defendant was angered by victim's abundant use of methamphetamine) (emphasis added).

Appellant has not established any error in the trial court's ruling below.¹¹

C. The Trial Court Did Not Error In Allowing Witness Hunt, On Redirect Examination, To State His Motive For Informing On The Appellant

Appellant next asserts that witness Hunt was impermissibly allowed to state his motivation [Jackson's threat to kill] for coming forward to the police. (Appellant's Brief at 46). The

¹¹ Indeed, even if this Court were to conclude an error occurred based upon Hunt's testimony as appellant contends, the error would be harmless.

trial court overruled the defense objection to this testimony, stating, in part:

I feel the door has been somewhat opened in that the witness was questioned extensively on crossexamination as to the sole motive for him going to the police, maybe testifying against Mr. Jackson, is that upset over the money and he felt that Mr. Jackson had promised to pay his, I guess, Stewart-Marchman fees for a drug program and, allegedly, reneged on that, so I think it is relevant if there was another reason.

(V22, 948-49). The trial court made an appropriate discretionary ruling to admit this evidence. <u>McCoy v. State</u>, 853 So. 2d 396, 406 (Fla. 2003) (a trial court's ruling on the scope of crossexamination is subject to an abuse of discretion standard.)

As recognized by the trial court below, appellant challenged the motive for Hunt coming forward to the police. Hunt was cross-examined on the financial falling out he had with Jackson (V22, 905-06) as well as his other potential motives to testify, including the suggestion he was attempting to utilize his cooperation for a reduced sentence. (V22, 902). Since the defense clearly challenged Hunt's motive for coming forward against Jackson, the prosecution could elicit that he finally went to the police when he heard about appellant's threat. This Court has repeatedly held that a witness's motivation for coming forward is relevant, particularly when that witness's motivation has been challenged on cross-examination. See Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1997); Penalver v. State, 926 So. 2d 1118,

1135-1136 (Fla. 2006); <u>Pagan v. State</u>, 830 So. 2d 792, 814 (Fla. 2002).

Hunt's testimony regarding the threat was not hearsay because it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. See Penalver v. State, 926 So. 2d 1118, 1131-1132 (Fla. 2006) (discussing the distinction between hearsay and nonhearsay when the statement is not offered for the truth of the matter asserted when the door is opened by the defense crossexamination of a state witness). It did not matter whether or not the threat to Hunt through Jackson's wife was true or not. It was relevant to Hunt's motive to come forward to the police and implicate Jackson and, himself, in the kidnapping and murder of Pallis. See Foster v. State, 778 So. 2d 906, 914-15 (Fla. 2000) ("A statement may . . . be offered to prove a variety of things besides its truth. A statement may be offered, for instance, to **show motive**, knowledge, or identity.") (emphasis added)(citations omitted).

Finally, assuming, arguendo, any error in allowing Hunt to testify regarding Jackson's threat, the error was harmless. The State presented strong and largely uncontradicted evidence of appellant's guilt. Moreover, several witnesses testified that Jackson made threatening remarks to them, or, implied threats, if they cooperated with authorities. (V18, 365; V20, 583; V21,

647). Under the circumstances of this case, reversible error has not been demonstrated.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE DEFENSE REQUEST FOR A SPECIAL INSTRUCTION ON CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE? (Stated by Appellee).

Appellant next asserts that the trial court erred in failing to give his special instruction on circumstantial evidence. While appellant recognizes that the trial court has wide discretion in instructing the jury, he fails to offer any compelling reasons to find an abuse of that discretion on appeal. Consequently, appellant's claim of error provides no basis for relief from this Court.

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